JURISDICTION1 

 This appeal is from the final order dated March 23, 2023 that granted 

Georgetown University’s motion to dismiss Lauren’s and J.P. Szymkowicz’s 

complaint in its entirety. The notice of appeal was filed on March 31, 2023.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Superior Court err in granting Georgetown University’s motion to 

dismiss Lauren’s and J.P.’s complaint on the basis that marijuana is legal and 

cannot support claims of negligence, nuisance and breach of contract where 

secondhand smoke from one of its students migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s 

rowhouse next-door and caused them to suffer significant damage? 

2. Did the Superior Court fail to consider D.C. Code §6-642.09(a) which 

allows neighbors to sue those whose zoning violations cause them harm when it 

dismissed Lauren’s and J.P.’s complaint? 

3. Did the Superior Court err in holding that the Zoning Commission (rather 

than the Superior Court) was the proper forum in which to bring their claims 

against Georgetown University where Lauren and J.P. were damaged as a result of 

the University’s failure to prevent its student from smoking marijuana in violation 

of the Code of Student Conduct? 

 
1  The numbers inside brackets indicate the page number of the Joint Appendix 

that relate to the statement immediately preceding the brackets. 
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4. Did the Superior Court err when it held that Lauren and J.P. were not 

intended beneficiaries of the contract between the District of Columbia and 

Georgetown University that was incorporated into the Zoning Order? 

5. Did the Superior Court err when it held that Georgetown University did not 

have the duty to protect Lauren and J.P. from the secondhand smoke that migrated 

into their home from the student’s home next-door? 

6. Did the Superior Court err when it held that Georgetown University 

eventually took action to stop the migration of secondhand smoke migrating into 

Lauren’s and J.P.’s home from the student’s rowhouse next-door? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case involves the actions of an undergraduate student at Georgetown 

University whose marijuana smoking in her off-campus housing resulted in the 

migration of secondhand smoke from her home into the rowhouse next door in 

which Lauren and J.P. reside. In their complaint in the Superior Court, Lauren and 

J.P. presented claims of private nuisance, public nuisance, negligence, breach of 

contract, and negligent infliction of emotional distress against Georgetown 

University due to its failure to adhere to the terms of a Zoning Order that 

incorporated a Campus Plan and Code of Student Conduct. [1-66]. Specifically, 

Georgetown University failed to enforce those portions of its Code of Student 

Conduct that ban students from smoking marijuana or otherwise causing harm to 
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the student’s neighbors. [24-37]. The Campus Plan also requires Georgetown 

University to remove students from off-campus housing if their actions cause harm 

to their neighbors. [24-37]. The Superior Court held a 30-minute hearing via 

WebEx on Georgetown University’s motion to dismiss. [333-367]. During this 

hearing, the judge ruled that that the use of marijuana is legal, and therefore, 

cannot support a claim for nuisance or negligence.” [335, 338-339]. The judge also 

found that Lauren and J.P. should have brought their claims before the Zoning 

Commission as opposed to the Superior Court. [335-336, 344-346, 349, 354-357, 

360]. The judge also found that Lauren and J.P. were not intended beneficiaries of 

the Zoning Order that incorporated the Code of Student Conduct and Campus Plan. 

[337, 350-351]. The judge shockingly remarked that the remedy for a neighbor 

involuntarily exposed to secondhand smoke is to move. [337]. In a one-page order, 

the Superior Court dismissed Lauren’s and J.P.’s complaint for the reasons stated 

during in the WebEx hearing. [370]. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Parties 

Lauren Szymkowicz and her husband, J.P. Szymkowicz,2 were Plaintiffs in 

the Superior Court and are Appellants in this Court. They live in a rowhouse near 

 
2  Lauren Szymkowicz is hereinafter referred to as “Lauren.” J.P. Szymkowicz 

is hereinafter referred to as “J.P.” As a married couple, Lauren and J.P. are 

hereinafter jointly referred to as “Lauren and J.P.”]. 
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the main campus of Georgetown University. [2-3]. They work from home. [2]. The 

President and Directors of the College of Georgetown, within the District of 

Columbia, was the Defendant in the Superior Court and is the Appellee in the 

Court of Appeals.3 [3]. 

The Georgetown University Student at Issue 

In July 2006, Lauren and J.P. moved into the rowhouse where they currently 

reside. [4]. In or around mid-September 2021, a student4 in her senior year at 

Georgetown University moved into the basement of the rowhouse next-door which 

is physically attached to Lauren’s and J.P.’s rowhouse next-door. [4]. The 

rowhouses have a common wall that separates Lauren’s and J.P.’s rowhouse from 

the student’s rowhouse; the wall is semi-porous in places, particularly in the 

basement and attic, permitting air to pass between the rowhouses. [4]. The student 

habitually and frequently smoked marijuana in the basement of her rowhouse, and 

secondhand smoke regularly migrated through the common wall into Lauren’s and 

J.P.’s rowhouse, causing the air in Lauren’s and J.P.’s rowhouse to become toxic 

and malodorous. [4-5]. 

 

 

 
3  The President and Directors of the College of Georgetown, within the 

District of Columbia, is hereinafter referred to as “Georgetown University.” 

 
4  This student is hereinafter referred to as “the student.” 
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The Migration of Secondhand Smoke into Lauren’s and J.P.’s Home 

Prior to their Complaints to Georgetown University 

 

At the time the student moved into the rowhouse, there were two other 

unrelated individuals living on the third floor of the rowhouse – a male and a 

female student at Georgetown University. [6]. Neither of these upstairs housemates 

smoked marijuana in or around the rowhouse. [6]. The only time that either Lauren 

or J.P. ever met the student was in mid-September 2021, while she was moving 

boxes from a car at the rear of the rowhouse into the basement of the rowhouse. 

[6]. This meeting occurred when the male housemate and J.P. were talking to each 

other on their respective balconies. The student and a friend drove up in a car, 

unloaded the boxes, and had a brief conversation during which the student 

commented that she planned to graduate in December 2021 and return to the state 

where her family lived. [6].  

On September 18, 2021, Lauren and J.P. went on vacation and did not return 

home until late on the evening of September 28, 2021. [6]. Upon information and 

belief, the student had not yet fully moved into the rowhouse by the time that 

Lauren and J.P. left for vacation. [6]. Upon Lauren’s and J.P.’s return home on the 

evening of September 28-29, 2021, they were hit by what felt and smelled like a 

wall of secondhand marijuana smoke as they entered their home. [7]. This 

secondhand marijuana smoke was worse in the basement, but also permeated the 

air on the second floor where Lauren’s and J.P.’s kitchen, dining room, and two 
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living rooms are located, and on the third floor where Lauren’s and J.P.’s bedroom 

and office are located. [7]. 

On September 29, 2021, J.P. emailed the male housemate about the 

migration of marijuana smoke, and on September 30, 2021, the male housemate 

replied that he would “do [his] best to resolve things gently but satisfactorily” 

(even though he did not have a legal duty to do so, as he was not responsible for 

the actions of a housemate that he had just met). [7]. On October 7, 2021, J.P. 

emailed the male housemate again and said “The pot smoke is really bad. Can you 

please ask [the student] to stop smoking in your house? It is keeping us up and 

giving us headaches and coughs. Thanks.” [7]. There was secondhand marijuana 

smoke present in Lauren’s and J.P.’s home on many days between October 7-21, 

2021, when the migration of secondhand smoke stopped abruptly, because, as they 

learned from the male housemate, the student went to a conference on marijuana 

issues in Las Vegas and was not home. [7]. Upon the student’s return on October 

28, 2021, the secondhand smoke in Lauren’s and J.P.’s house became worse than it 

had ever been, which caused J.P. to send a text message to the male housemate that 

stated “Our house smells like a pot den. It is hard to breathe. Can you please have 

[the student] call [Lauren]? Thanks and sorry to involve you.” [7]. Upon 

information and belief, the student told her male housemate that she was mad that 
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Lauren and J.P. asked him to be the “middleperson” and instructed him not to give 

out her phone number or email address to Lauren and J.P. [8]. 

On October 29, 2021, Lauren saw the student arrive at her home, and 

immediately went to the student’s basement door and told the student that 

marijuana smoke was coming into her house, that she has asthma, and that the 

secondhand smoke was giving her headaches and making it hard to breathe. The 

student said, “I am on a Zoom call [even though she had just arrived at her house] 

and I can’t help you,” at which point Lauren went back home. [8]. 

Lauren’s and J.P.’s Initial Complaints to Georgetown University 

 

After Lauren’s request to the student was rebuffed, J.P. made the decision, 

on October 29, 2021, to call the Director of Georgetown University’s Office of 

Neighborhood Life, Corey Peterson,5 to complaint about the student’s smoking. 

[8]. Director Peterson was not available, so J.P. left a voicemail. [8]. There was no 

migration of secondhand smoke into Lauren’s and J.P.’s home from November 1-

4, 2021. [8]. J.P. learned from the male housemate that the student’s mother was 

visiting from out of town, and thus, there was no reason for him to follow up with 

Director Peterson. [8]. On or about November 5, 2021, secondhand smoke again 

migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s home. [9]. On the evening of November 7, 2021, 

 
5  The Director of the Office of Neighborhood Life is hereinafter referred to as 

“Director Peterson.” 
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Lauren, J.P. and the male housemate who lived next door went to the movies and a 

restaurant. [9]. Upon their return, Lauren and J.P. noticed the presence of a 

moderate amount of secondhand smoke in the basement of their home. [9]. 

Sometime after Lauren and J.P. went to bed, the secondhand smoke appeared to 

get worse and began to migrate from the basement into the upstairs floors of the 

house; it was so pungent that it forced them out of bed. [9]. That night, November 

7-8, 2021, J.P. called Georgetown University’s Student Neighborhood Assistance 

Program [hereinafter referred to as “SNAP”] and made a complaint about the 

migration of secondhand smoke. [9]. In response to the complaint, the SNAP 

dispatcher sent an officer of the Georgetown University Police Department to the 

house, but the officer never left his or her vehicle or spoke to the student. [9]. 

When J.P. called the Georgetown University Police Department back that night to 

let them know that the officer had failed to knock on the door, the dispatcher said, 

“marijuana is legal so we cannot do anything,” to which J.P. said, “it does not 

matter if marijuana is legal or not, because the use of marijuana violates the Code 

of Student Conduct.” [9-10]. The dispatcher then transferred the call to a senior 

officer, who claimed that officers are not permitted to knock on the doors of off-

campus students’ houses. [9-10]. The dispatcher promised to call Director 

Peterson, but since this was late at night, J.P. said that such a call was not 

necessary and that he would call Director Peterson the next day. [9-10]. 
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On November 8, 2021, J.P. called Director Peterson to make a formal 

complaint about the marijuana smoke. [10]. Director Peterson was busy at that 

moment, and the parties missed each other again when he called back later that 

day. [10]. That night, marijuana smoke again migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s 

house, leading J.P. to call SNAP to make a report, but, to his knowledge, no officer 

was dispatched to the student’s house. [10]. On November 9, 2021, J.P. and 

Director Peterson finally spoke at length about the marijuana smoke and J.P. told 

him that the secondhand smoke was causing Lauren and J.P. serious health 

problems and was unpleasant to them, to which Director Peterson responded that 

he would speak to the student. [10]. That night, November 9, 2021, secondhand 

smoke again migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s house. [10]. The next night, 

November 10, 2021, secondhand smoke again migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s 

home, which resulted in another report to SNAP, but this time, the SNAP 

dispatcher sent a pair of off-duty officers from the District of Columbia’s 

Metropolitan Police Department to Lauren’s and J.P.’s home. [10-11]. One of these 

officers said, “We are sorry!,” but stated that they could not go to the student’s 

house since department policy does not permit officers to investigate claims of 

marijuana smoking in private homes. [10-11]. J.P. emailed Director Peterson about 

the latest complaint, but there was no resolution to the problem. [11]. 
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From November 11-22, 2021, Lauren and J.P. were traveling. [11]. Upon 

their return on the evening of November 22, 2021, there was a smell of stale 

marijuana in their home. [11]. Around 3:45 p.m. on November 23, 2021, 

secondhand smoke again migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s home, and was so bad 

that they could barely breathe, so J.P. called Director Peterson, who came over to 

their house, smelled how bad the marijuana smell was inside the home, learned that 

Lauren has asthma and had trouble breathing due to the secondhand smoke, went 

to the student’s home, knocked at the door of the student’s home, was permitted to 

enter by the male housemate and attempted to speak to the student, but the student 

refused to discuss the matter. [11]. Upon information and belief, the student was 

mad at the male housemate for letting Director Peterson into their rowhouse. [11]. 

On November 24, 2022, in the late-morning and early-afternoon, 

secondhand smoke again migrated into Lauren’s and J.P.’s home and was so bad 

that Lauren had trouble breathing and needed to evacuate the home and take refuge 

elsewhere, even though she had a significant amount of work to do in her home 

office before leaving for an out-of-town trip the next day. [11]. After Lauren left 

the home on November 24, 2022, J.P. called SNAP and then texted Director 

Peterson to complain about the secondhand smoke; this prompted Director 

Peterson to visit Lauren’s and J.P.’s home, where he said, as he entered the front 

door, “I can smell it here – it is bad” (even though he was wearing a face mask due 
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to COVID-19 protocols). [12]. While Director Peterson was at Lauren’s and J.P.’s 

home on November 24, 2022, J.P. called Lauren to ask her to return to the house so 

that she could tell Director Peterson directly how the secondhand smoke 

aggravated her asthma and prevented her from breathing properly, and the Director 

said, “I am so sorry that you are going through this.” [12]. A short while after 

Director Peterson left Lauren’s and J.P.’s home on November 24, 2022, Lauren 

also left (because she was having trouble breathing) and went to a family 

member’s home to avoid exposure to the secondhand smoke. [12]. 

Lauren and J.P. were out of town for the Thanksgiving holiday from 

November 24-27, 2021, so they do not know if there was secondhand smoke in 

their home during that time. [12]. Upon their return, they did not smell any 

secondhand smoke until the night of November 30 to December 1, 2021, when J.P. 

saw the student return to her home around 11:15 p.m. [12]. By around 12:40 a.m., 

an overwhelming wave of secondhand marijuana smoke jolted Lauren and J.P. out 

of bed. [13]. J.P. called SNAP and asked them to send an officer over to smell the 

secondhand smoke inside Lauren’s and J.P.’s home, but the dispatcher said that 

they could not because that complaint was outside their jurisdiction. [13]. J.P. then 

texted Director Peterson and said, “[The student] came back from break at 11:15 

pm tonight. We had no smoke in our house since we arrived back this past 

Saturday (because she was not at home). Now at 12:40 am tonight, our house is 
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filled with marijuana smoke. Can you please come over and ask her to stop?” [13]. 

Around 1:10 a.m. that night, Officer Sylvester Davis of the Metropolitan Police 

Department (Badge #2250) arrived at Lauren’s and J.P.’s home after being 

dispatched by SNAP. [13]. Upon entering the home, Officer Davis indicated that 

he could smell the secondhand marijuana smoke but could not take any action 

against the student due to department policy. [13]. After Officer Davis left 

Lauren’s and J.P.’s home that night, J.P. called SNAP and asked them to call 

Director Peterson about this issue. [13]. The dispatcher said that they would leave a 

message for Director Peterson, but he never called J.P. back that night. [13]. 

Lauren and J.P. had trouble getting back to sleep that night and were forced to 

sleep with the windows open due to the presence of secondhand smoke, but even 

then, their sleep was restless due to the secondhand smoke and cold air. [13-14]. 

The next morning, December 1, 2021, both Lauren and J.P. woke up with horrible 

headaches and trouble breathing due to their disrupted sleep and exposure to 

secondhand smoke and cold air during the night, which made them exhausted the 

entire day. [14]. 

On December 1, 2021, Lauren was working away from home in order to 

avoid exposure to the secondhand smoke, while J.P. was working at home because 

he had no other comfortable option where he could work. [14]. At approximately 

5:10 p.m., the smell of secondhand marijuana entered Lauren’s and J.P.’s home 
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through the basement, even though the door from the basement to the main level 

was closed. [14]. Upon being struck by the secondhand smoke, J.P. called SNAP to 

complain about the secondhand smoke. [14]. The dispatcher took a report over the 

telephone, and J.P. texted Director Peterson: “The smoke started again around 5:10 

p.m. today. Can you please come over and ask [the student] to stop smoking in the 

house? I have no choice but to work from home and this is killing me.” [14]. Upon 

receiving the text, Director Peterson sent an employee of the Office of 

Neighborhood Life to knock on the student’s door. [14-15]. When the employee 

was unable to gain entry, the employee came to Lauren’s and J.P.’s home and 

commented that she could smell the secondhand smoke from the front doorway, 

and, after she went to Lauren’s and J.P.’s basement, said that the secondhand 

smoke was “really bad” even though she was wearing a mask due to COVID 

protocols. [14-15]. After the Office of Neighborhood Life employee left, J.P. 

called a woman who lived across the street for her independent opinion about how 

bad the secondhand smoke was. [15]. The woman said that she could smell the 

secondhand smoke as soon as J.P. opened the door, and, after she walked through 

the home, stated how bad she thought the secondhand smoke was. [15]. After the 

neighbor left, J.P. was forced to leave in order to avoid exposure to the secondhand 

smoke. [15]. Upon his return to his home around 9:00 p.m., he found that the 

secondhand smoke was still present, and although the intensity had dissipated 
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somewhat, the cumulative effect of the exposure to the secondhand smoke left him 

with a massive headache and burning sinuses. [15]. 

On December 3, 2022, J.P. sent an email to Director Peterson and to 

Georgetown University’s Vice-President for Government Relations and 

Community Relations, Christopher Murphy,6 complaining about the secondhand 

smoke problem. [15]. In response, Vice-President Murphy sent an email that 

stated, in part, that this is a “very complex situation and we are trying to work our 

way through it internally,” and “we have asked our colleagues at student affairs to 

reach out to the student and see what progress they can make with her” and “[w]e 

are hopeful that appealing to her as a person – and not having to threaten conduct 

issues – will be more effective.” [15]. 

Upon information and belief, the student was out of town from December 2-

6, 2021, and thus, Lauren and J.P., but on December 7, 2021, Lauren and J.P. 

returned from a long day away from the house to find that the house had a stale 

smell of secondhand smoke, which meant that the smoking was done hours before, 

so J.P. called SNAP to make another report. [16]. 

On the night of December 7-8, 2021, Lauren and J.P. were in bed and were 

awakened to the smell of secondhand smoke around 12:30 a.m., leading Lauren to 

 
6  The Vice-President for Government Relations and Community Relations is

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