No. 23-CV-0278

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

LAUREN SZYMKOWICZ, ET AL.,

Appellants,

v.

THE PRESIDENT AND DIRECTORS OF THE COLLEGE OF GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division, Case No. 2022 CA 003391 B Hon. Maurice A. Ross

BRIEF OF APPELLEE GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

BRUCE M. BERMAN JEREMY W. BRINSTER* NATALIE KIRCHHOFF WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE AND DORR LLP 2100 Pennsylvania Avenue NW Washington, DC 20037 (202) 663-6000 (202) 663-6363 (fax) bruce.berman@wilmerhale.com jeremy.brinster@wilmerhale.com natalie.kirchhoff@wilmerhale.com

September 18, 2024

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

Where a damages remedy already exists, Section 6-641.09(a) preserves it, allowing a plaintiff to pursue "other remedies available outside § 6-641.09(a)." *Northeast Neighbors*, 92 A.3d at 1123-1124 n.17. This Court accordingly has

suggested that, in an appropriate case, a plaintiff may pursue a tort claim against a defendant who violates the zoning laws. In B&W Management, for example, this Court assumed that a property owner created a nuisance by "operating a surface parking lot on its property, in violation of the zoning regulations," but held that a neighboring property owner could not state a nuisance claim because it did not suffer any special damages. 451 A.2d at 881-884. Appellants' suit in no way resembles the claim in *B&W Management*. Unlike the construction of a surface lot in the face of zoning regulations that prohibit it, see id. at 881 & n.2, any failure on Georgetown's part to comply strictly with the Campus Plan "is not a zoning violation," see JA344. And even if Georgetown's conduct could amount to a zoning violation, the harm Appellants describe in their Complaint was created by Appellants' neighbor in an off-campus residence neither owned nor controlled by the university and is not "attributable to" Georgetown. *B&W Mgmt.*, 451 A.2d at 881. Because Appellants cannot state a tort claim against Georgetown, there are no "other remedies available outside § 6-641.09(a)" for Appellants to pursue. *Northeast Neighbors*, 92 A.3d at 1123-1124 n.17.

The Superior Court therefore was correct to hold that alleged violations of the Zoning Commission order must be taken up, if at all, before the Zoning Commission. *See* JA344. As explained, the Zoning Commission provided that Georgetown's compliance with the conditions of the order approving the Campus Plan would be reviewed by the Georgetown Community Partnership, not individual residents of the surrounding neighborhood. And in addition to addressing their concerns to the Georgetown Community Partnership, Appellants could have raised any complaints with the District of Columbia government. This Court's decision in Nathanson v. D.C. Board of Zoning Adjustment demonstrates that allegations of noncompliance with a zoning order can be adjudicated through the administrative process. 289 A.2d 881, 883 (D.C. 1972). There, the zoning board held a hearing to show cause why a special exception granted to a liquor license holder should not be revoked for failure to comply with the condition imposed by the zoning board's order. Id. Appellants offer no reason why they should be permitted to bypass such a process here. They simply argue that they should not have to go before the Zoning Commission because they are seeking a "monetary award" the Commission cannot grant. Br. 37. But that is the precise issue: Appellants seek a damages remedy to which they are not entitled.

Even if the Campus Plan or Zoning Commission order could be privately enforced, these documents do not impose on Georgetown a duty to Appellants to take any particular action, under its Code of Student Conduct or otherwise. Courts have rejected claims, like this one, asserting that a university's general policies create a duty actionable in tort to conduct a reasonable investigation of complaints. *See Cavalier v. Catholic Univ. of Am.*, 513 F. Supp. 3d 30, 62-63 (D.D.C. 2021).

Instead, plaintiffs must point to "specific terms" of an undertaking by the university, and courts may find a duty only when there is a "discrete" obligation assumed by the university. *Id.* at 63 (citing *Hedgepeth*, 22 A.3d at 811). And that is for good reason—attaching liability to the kind of broad, aspirational statements Appellants point to would fly in the face of this Court's recognition that "courts must respect the authority of a university to select the appropriate discipline to be meted out to a student who has violated the university's rules." *Varner*, 891 A.2d at 270. Courts must "tread carefully and exercise restraint" before determining that plaintiffs can show "an identifiable standard of care or its breach" in tort claims arising out of university disciplinary decisions. *Id.* at 270-271.

Both the Campus Plan and Zoning Commission order are far too generalized to impose any "discrete" obligations on Georgetown in favor of Appellants, let alone a duty in tort to protect Appellants from harm by enforcing its Code. The Campus Plan describes the interests that Georgetown shares with its neighbors in ensuring the "continued vitality" of both the university and the surrounding community. JA155-156. Georgetown's neighbors are "stakeholders" and "critical partners" in the "effort" to "more fully understand the campus and its potential in the context of the surrounding community." *Id.* Nowhere does the Campus Plan make any representation, explicit or implicit, that Georgetown will take any specific actions to protect neighboring residents from harm.

The Zoning Commission order similarly does not require Georgetown to make any specific response to concerns raised by its neighbors. It states that Georgetown "shall investigate reports of improper off-campus student conduct and respond to behavior found to violate the [Code] promptly with appropriate sanctions." JA277. That language hardly imposes on Georgetown a duty to all nearby residents, actionable in tort, to enforce its Code in a manner those residents consider appropriate. Even if the Zoning Commission order imposed on Georgetown a duty to adhere to the Code, the Code preserves Georgetown's flexibility in investigating and resolving student-conduct issues. As the Superior Court held, it remains "discretionary" under the Zoning Commission order and Campus Plan how Georgetown may enforce its Code to "appropriately handle[]" and "minimize[] the impact of [its] student." JA350.

Appellants' attempt to articulate how the Campus Plan and Zoning Commission order impose a duty on Georgetown underscores that those documents do no such thing. Appellants argue that Georgetown had a duty, "[u]pon receiving [Appellants'] complaint against the student ... to initiate procedures for the 'Resolution of Complaints'" in the Code of Student Conduct. Br. 42 (citing JA121-125). But under the Code, a complaint is filed by "contact[ing] the Office of Student Conduct," JA121—a step Appellants do not allege they ever took. Even if Appellants had filed a complaint, the Code cannot be read to impose on Georgetown a duty to Appellants "to determine if the student admits or denies committing offenses that violate the Code of Student Conduct, to determine whether the allegations are of sufficient seriousness as to warrant the imposition of interim measures such as an interim suspension or temporary removal from off-campus housing, and finally to resolve [Appellants'] complaint via 'Administrative Action taken by a Conduct Officer' or referral to a Hearing Board[.]" Br. 42.

The Code instead makes clear that Georgetown retains discretion to decide the most appropriate methods for resolving individual complaints. While complaints "may be resolved ... via Administrative Action or referral to a Hearing Board," Georgetown "will determine the most appropriate manner to handle each individual complaint," and may "suggest attempting to resolve a complaint via an alternative method of resolution ... at any time during the process." JA122. The Code does not, as Appellants contend, obligate Georgetown to determine if a student should be removed from off-campus housing while a complaint is investigated. The Code does not even identify housing relocation as an interim disciplinary measure Georgetown may take during an investigation—it states only that an individual may be temporarily suspended (and thus "prohibited from being on campus") if she "appears to pose a risk of significant danger or disruption to the community or any individual." JA124 (emphasis added). And nowhere does the

Code suggest that Georgetown must, as Appellants argue, "ascertain whether the student smoked a [controlled] substance." Br. 43.

Appellants' argument that Georgetown owed a duty to take specific steps to resolve their dispute with their neighbor thus has no support in the language of the Code. At each stage of the process, Georgetown reserves discretion to handle complaints in the manner it sees fit. In recognition of this discretion, the Code does not commit Georgetown to initiate or resolve a complaint within a particular time period. It instead provides that "[u]nder most circumstances," Georgetown will first notify the relevant student that a matter is under investigation within 30 days of "receiving an incident report that will likely result in judicial action." JA123. The Code does not require Georgetown to meet with students, determine if they admit or deny allegations, or impose sanctions on Appellants' preferred timeline.¹ The Code thus permits Georgetown to make the kind of determination it made here: that "appealing to [the neighbor] as a person-and not having to threaten conduct issues—will be more effective," and could "result in a change in behavior." JA15 ¶ 64; JA18 ¶ 72; JA23 ¶ 90. Georgetown's "authority ... to

¹ Nor do Appellants plausibly allege that, even if Georgetown had taken these actions, the university would have resolved the matter sooner than it was resolved. *See* JA123 (noting it may take up to 30 days after an incident report before students are even notified of an investigation).

select the appropriate discipline to be meted out to a student who has violated [its] rules" is entitled to deference. *Varner*, 891 A.2d at 270.

Finally, while Appellants have abandoned any negligence *per se* argument by failing to raise it in their opening brief, *see Graure v. United States*, 18 A.3d 743, 761 n.23 (D.C. 2011), the discretion reserved to Georgetown under the Campus Plan and Zoning Commission order also forecloses any tort liability under a negligence *per se* theory. Because these documents do not "set forth specific guidelines to govern behavior," they do not impose any standard of care. *See Night & Day Mgmt., LLC v. Butler*, 101 A.3d 1033, 1040 (D.C. 2014).

B. Appellants Fall Far Short Of Stating A Claim For Negligent Infliction Of Emotional Distress

Like an ordinary negligence claim, a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress fails where plaintiffs cannot plausibly allege the existence of a duty—in particular, "a duty to avoid inflicting emotional distress." *Hedgepeth*, 22 A.3d at 811. This Court has explained that there is no "general' duty of care to avoid causing emotional distress." *Id.* at 796. A duty to avoid emotional distress exists only where "(1) the defendant has a relationship with the plaintiff, or has undertaken an obligation to the plaintiff, of a nature that necessarily implicates the plaintiff's emotional well-being" and "(2) there is an especially likely risk that the defendant's negligence would cause serious emotional distress to the plaintiff." *Id.* at 810-811. No such situation is present here. Appellants do not plausibly allege any relationship between them and Georgetown "of a nature that necessarily implicates [Appellants'] emotional well-being." *Hedgepeth*, 22 A.3d at 810-811. Appellants' only relationship with Georgetown is that a Georgetown student briefly lived next door to them in a private, off-campus residence neither owned nor controlled by the university. That is nothing like the "doctor-patient relationships" that this Court has described as implicating emotional well-being. *Id.* at 812-813. Appellants are instead "stranger[s]" to whom Georgetown owes no duty to avoid emotional distress. *Id.* at 811.

Nor was Georgetown's adoption of the Campus Plan the undertaking of "an obligation to [Appellants]," let alone an obligation that "necessarily implicates [their] emotional well-being." *Hedgepeth*, 22 A.3d at 810. The Campus Plan's recognition that local residents are "partners" in ensuring that campus impacts "are appropriately and effectively minimized and managed," JA156, does not plausibly implicate emotional well-being, and certainly does not suggest that it is "especially likely that *serious* emotional distress will result from negligent performance" of any undertaking, *Hedgepeth*, 22 A.3d at 813. The Superior Court therefore correctly dismissed this claim.

C. Appellants' Nuisance Claims Fail On Similar Grounds

Appellants' failure to plausibly allege that Georgetown owed them any enforceable duty is likewise fatal to their nuisance claims. "As an independent tort, claims of nuisance have ... not been viewed favorably by this [C]ourt." Beretta, 872 A.2d at 646. Rather, to succeed on a nuisance claim, a plaintiff must plead "some underlying tortious conduct, such as negligence." Tucci v. District of Columbia, 956 A.2d 684, 697 (D.C. 2008); see Ortberg v. Goldman Sachs Grp., 64 A.3d 158, 167 (D.C. 2013) (noting that where "a plaintiff has claimed that unintentional conduct resulted in a nuisance, [the court] require[s] proof of negligence."). By virtue of this requirement, this Court has declined "to loosen the tort [of nuisance] from the traditional moorings of duty, proximate causation, foreseeability, and remoteness" that underlie negligence claims. Beretta, 872 A.2d at 646 (public nuisance claim); see Ortberg, 64 A.3d at 166-167 (private nuisance claim). As the Superior Court properly held, Georgetown owed Appellants no duty—and, accordingly, the university "can't be liable for a nuisance created by someone else in a property they don't own or control." JA357.

Rather than contest the Superior Court's holding that there was no connection between Georgetown and the alleged nuisance, Appellants improperly characterize the Superior Court's basis for dismissing their nuisance claims. They contend that the Superior Court's holding relied on an incorrect theory that lawful

conduct, such as smoking marijuana in the District of Columbia, cannot support nuisance claims.² Br. 34-35. Appellants are wrong. The Superior Court's ruling was fully consistent with this Court's decision in *Ippolito-Shepherd v. Farserotu*, which held that it is reversible error to dismiss a nuisance claim solely because the conduct alleged to have created a nuisance—like here, smoking marijuana in one's own home and causing secondhand smoke to drift onto a neighboring property was lawful. No. 21-CV-172, at *1, *4 (D.C. Dec. 23, 2021).

To start, there are key factual distinctions between this case and *Ippolito-Shepherd*. While both cases involved complaints about secondhand smoke, the plaintiff in *Ippolito-Shepherd* brought suit directly against her offending neighbor. Op., No. 21-CV-172, at *1-2. Here, Appellants have not brought their nuisance claim against the party that created the alleged nuisance. They have instead sued Georgetown, even though Georgetown did not own or control the residence from which the smoke allegedly migrated.

The conduct alleged to have caused a nuisance in *Ippolito-Shepherd* was also far more severe. In that case, the plaintiffs' neighbor testified that he had *smoked every day for the past eight years*, and the plaintiff attested that she had

² Appellants suggest that the Superior Court dismissed their nuisance *and* negligence claims on this theory. Br. 34. However, as the hearing transcript reflects, the court only discussed this proposition when addressing Appellants' nuisance claims. *See* JA335-39.

been unable to enjoy her home for four years and had sent over 200 emails to her neighbor requesting that he cease smoking. Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, No. 2020-CA-004616-B, at *18, *32 (D.C. Super. Ct. June 6, 2023). These facts demonstrated "some degree of permanence" and "continuousness or recurrence," as required to establish an actionable nuisance. Id. at *32 (quoting Wood v. Neuman, 979 A.2d 64, 78 (D.C. 2009)). The conduct at issue here, by contrast, bears no such markers of permanence. According to Appellants, it lasted less than three months, during which time they experienced secondhand smoke on their property only intermittently. JA7 ¶ 27; JA20 ¶ 81. And by Appellants' own admission, they did not attempt to directly raise the issue with their neighbor or with Georgetown until October 29, 2021. JA8 ¶¶ 33-34. That leaves *just a month* and a half during which Appellants claim Georgetown was aware of the secondhand smoke drift before the problem was resolved.

Moreover, *Ippolito-Shepherd* stands only for the proposition that a nuisance claim cannot be dismissed on the sole ground that the alleged nuisance involved lawful conduct. This Court observed there that "the trial court did not address any other possible grounds for dismissing appellant's several causes of action, and appellees have not argued alternative legal grounds for doing so." Op., *Ippolito-Shepherd*, No. 21-CV-172, at *4 n.6. Given the Superior Court's narrow decision

in that case, this Court expressly held that it needed to "go no further ... in addressing [the appellant's] claims." *Id*.

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